IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

Case No. 74743

WILLIAM BRANHAM

Appellant,

Electronically Filed Apr 04 2018 11:10 a.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

v.

ISIDRO BACA, WARDEN,

Respondent.

Appeal From Order Denying Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus (Post-Conviction) Second Judicial District Court, Washoe County The Honorable Elliott Sattler, District Judge

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

RENE L. VALLADARES
Federal Public Defender
Nevada State Bar No. 11479
*JONATHAN M. KIRSHBAUM
Assistant Federal Public Defender
Nevada State Bar No. 12908C
411 E. Bonneville, Suite 250
Las Vegas, Nevada 89101
Telephone: (702) 388-6577
Fax: (702) 388-6419

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This is an appeal from an Order filed on December 5, 2017, with notice of entry of order filed on December 5, 2017. The notice of appeal was timely filed on December 15, 2017. This Court has jurisdiction under N.R.A.P. 4(b) & 4(c), N.R.S. 34.575(1), 34.710, 34.815, 177.015(2).

ROUTING STATEMENT

This is an appeal from the denial of a post-conviction petition for a writ of habeas corpus that involves a conviction for a category A felony, first-degree murder, where the petitioner was sentenced to life in prison without the possibility of parole. This case is not presumptively assigned to the Court of Appeals.

The primary issue concerns a new constitutional rule, namely that the "substantive rule" exception to the *Teague* retroactivity principle applies in state post-conviction proceedings as a matter of federal constitutional law. Recent United States Supreme Court opinions make clear that a narrowing interpretation of a criminal statute must apply retroactively under the constitutional substantive rule exception. This constitutional issue presents a matter of statewide importance because it

affects numerous petitioners throughout the State. This issue is being litigated in several other appeals currently before this Court (*see* Case Nos. 74457, 74459, 74513, 74552, 74554, 74159), as well as at least five other petitions still pending at the district court level.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

Under recently decided United States Supreme Court cases, Branham must be given the benefit of *Byford v. State*, 116 Nev. 215, 994 P.2d 700 (2000), as a matter of federal constitutional law, because *Byford* was a substantive change in law that now must be applied retroactively to all cases, including those that became final prior to *Byford*.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal concerns the denial of a second state post-conviction petition arguing that a new constitutional rule allowed Branham to overcome the procedural defaults and obtain relief on the merits. (VII.App.1190.)

Branham was charged in an information with open murder.

(I.App.1.) He proceeded to a jury trial that took place in March 1993.

(I.App.11.) The jury convicted him of first-degree murder.

(VII.App.1159.) He was sentenced to life without the possibility of parole.

(VI.App.1156.) The Nevada Supreme Court affirmed the conviction on December 18, 1996. (VII.App.1183.)

Branham filed a first state post-conviction petition on December 12, 1997, which was denied. (VII.App.1186.) The Nevada Supreme Court affirmed the denial of the petition on November 10, 2005. (*Id.*)

On April 7, 2017, Branham filed a second state post-conviction petition raising the issue presented in this appeal. (VII.App.1190.) On May 16, 2017, the district court ordered the State to respond to the petition. (VII.App.1220.) On June 1, 2017, the State filed an Answer and a Motion to Dismiss. (VII.App.1222-43.) Branham opposed the motion and the State filed a reply. (VII.App.1231-47.)

The district court ordered oral argument on the petition and motion to dismiss. (VII.App.1248-49.) On September 20, 2017, oral argument was held. (VII.App.1251.) On December 5, 2017, the district court issued an order dismissing the petition. (VII.App.1286-94.) Notice of entry was filed that same day. (*Id.*) Branham filed a timely notice of appeal on December 15, 2017. (VII.App.1295.)

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

A. Jury Trial and *Kazalyn* Instruction

The State's theory at trial was that Branham strangled and/or suffocated his former roommate, Beverly Fetherston, to death sometime between February 6 and February 9, 1992.

The evidence at trial established that Fetherston and Branham were good friends, but not involved romantically. (II.App.209, 230, 295; III.App.326.) Fetherston allowed Branham to stay in her apartment and use her car. She also gave him financial support after he lost his job. (II.App.209, 260-61, 304-05, III.App.495-97.) Nevertheless, they had a tumultuous relationship. (II.App.211-12, 229-30, 261-66; III.App.376-78, 400-01; VI.App.959-60, 1025-27, 1045-46.) They both drank heavily and often argued. (II.App.229-30, 261-62, 311-12; III.App.377-78, 400-02, 423; VI.App.959-60, 985-89; VI.App.1025-27, 1045-46.)

No one ever saw Branham physically hurt Fetherston. (II.App.229-30; III.App.342-43, 438-39, 481-82; VI.App.959-60, 972-76, 985-89, 1050-51.) However, some of Fetherston's friends testified that Fetherston was fearful of Branham, they had heard him threaten her, and they saw him grab her arm on one occasion. (III.App.342-43, 349-50, 377-78, 402, 410-

12, 422-23; VI.App.1025-27, 1034-36.) Fetherston's close friend, Marilyn Mackay, claimed that she saw Fetherston with a black eye and split lip, which Branham allegedly inflicted. (III.App.402-04, 423-24.) However, no other person who knew them saw these injuries. (VI.App.969-76; 1050-51.)

Fetherston kicked Branham out of her apartment in early February 1992. (VI.App.1047-50.) At the time, Fetherston had begun a romantic relationship with John Bell. (II.App.267, 271-73.)

In early 1992, Fetherston worked as a bartender at the Swiss Chalet in Reno. (II.App.210-11, 258-59.) Her home was down the street from the bar. (III.App.345-46.)

On the morning of Thursday February 6, 1992, Fetherston was off duty but hanging out in the bar. (III.App.332-333, 337-38, 439-41.) She received a call from Branham. (III.App.337-38, 439-41.) She was upset and indicated that she did not want to talk to him, but the bartender gave her the phone. (*Id.*) After the call, she left the bar to meet Branham at her home. (III.App.339-40, 439-41.)

Dudley Poorman, who was a good friend of Fetherston, went to the Swiss Chalet on the morning of February 6 after he finished his graveyard shift at work and hung out with Fetherston before she met up with Branham. (III.App.439-41.) Sometime after Fetherston left, he went to Fetherston's apartment. (III.App.441.) Fetherston and Branham were at the apartment when Poorman got there. (III.App.444.) Both of them had been drinking and appeared intoxicated. (III.App.445-46, 501-02.) At around 1:00 p.m., Fetherston gave Poorman some money to go buy beer. (III.App.441-43.) Poorman later fell asleep on the sofa. (III.App.450-51.)

When Poorman woke up, Fetherston was sitting on Branham's lap in a chair in the corner of the room. (III.App.457, 493.) They appeared friendly, not romantic. (III.App.493.) He left her apartment around 4:00 p.m. (III.App.452, 457, 485-87.)

At around 4:45 p.m. on February 6, Branham cashed one of Fetherston's checks at a bank around the corner from her home. (IV.App.592-96.) The State presented evidence it was a forged check, as were other checks of Fetherston's that Branham had cashed over the

previous weeks (IV.App.572-76, 579-82, 584-90, 644-51.) When Branham was in the bank on February 6, he was upset that Fetherston had not received new checks (IV.App.572-76, 592-96, 612-14). The bank agreed to order more checks because they would be sent to Fetherston's address. It takes seven to 10 business days for checks to arrive. (*Id.*)

Bonnie Guggenbickler, a defense witness, testified that she saw Branham at around 6:30 p.m. to 7:00 p.m. towards the end of cocktail hour at the Keystone bar in Reno (VI.App.960-63.) He was in a "jovial" mood and told her that he was on his way to California to see his daughter. (*Id.*) A witness observed Branham sleeping in Fetherston's car outside a bar in the Bay Area in California at around 5:30 a.m. on February 7, 1992. (IV.App.683-90; VI.App.932-37.)

On the morning of Friday, February 7, around 8:30 or 9:00 a.m., Poorman went to Fetherston's apartment, but her car was not there. (III.App.453-54.) Ted Rice, another bartender at the Swiss Chalet, testified that he saw Fetherston at the Swiss Chalet on Friday morning, the day after she had received the call from Branham in the bar. (III.App.364-66.)

On February 9, 1992, Fetherston's body was discovered in her apartment. (I.App.55-56; IV.App.555-59.) She was lying on her back on the couch with her legs bent at the knee in what appeared to be an awkwardly staged position. (I.App.66-67; IV.App.555-59; V.App.799-805.) There was a pillow covering her head and an afghan covering her trunk; her legs were exposed. (I.App.66-67; V.App.799-805.) She had a beer can in her hand, but the opening was turned away from her. (I.App.66-67, 81-82; V.App.799-805.) She was wearing a sweatshirt and a pair of pink leggings were stuffed into the couch. (I.App.85-86; V.App.845, 847-48.) When Poorman last saw her, Fetherston was wearing jeans and a sweater. (III.App.482-83.)

Dr. James Neal O'Donnell was the pathologist who performed the autopsy. He concluded that the cause of death was undetermined, but consistent with asphyxia. (I.App.105.) There was a bruise-like injury of the low anterior neck, hemorrhage in the soft tissue in the front of the low trachea in the neck, and a separate area of hemorrhage in the pharynx area. (I.App.106-07.)

With regard to the "bruise-like area" on her neck, there was no hemorrhage on the underside soft tissue when he opened her up. (I.App.132-33.) The hemorrhage in the trachea area he attributed to blunt force trauma. (I.App.109-11.) Although a strangulation or suffocation typically shows evidence of a fight, there was no skin or blood under the fingernails, no contusions, split lip or black eye. (I.App.153.) He could think of no reason for her death other than asphyxia. (I.App.118.)

Dr. Ellen Clark, a co-worker of Dr. O'Donnell, opined this was a homicide with the cause of death being blunt trauma to the neck. (IV.App.725-27.) She could not say how the trauma would have occurred and could have been from an accident. (IV.App.741-43.)

Dr. Joseph H. Masters, a pathologist, testified as a defense expert (V.App.862-65.) He opined that the cause of death was undetermined. (V.App.865-67, 892.) The bruise two inches below the larynx, about at the jugular notch, was probably caused by blunt force. (V.App.880-83.) However, he stated that the bruise was not consistent with strangulation. (*Id.*) Further, he did not believe it could have caused her death.

(V.App.915-23.) It takes about 33 pounds of pressure to block off the airway to the trachea. Significant bruising would indicate a lot of pressure, but this bruise, only present in the fat tissue, is the size of a dime and gave no indication of damage. (V.App.923-25.) Other than congestion of the lungs, none of the other classical signs of asphyxiation were present. (V.App.886-87.) He did not see facts which supported a conclusion of death by a combination of strangulation and suffocation. (V.App.915-23.)

On February 11, 1992, Branham was arrested at the bank around the corner from Fetherston's home when he tried to cash another check. (IV.App.597-601, 614-17.)

B. Kazalyn Instruction and Closing Argument

The court provided the jury with the following instruction on premeditation and deliberation, known as the *Kazalvn* instruction:

Premeditation is a design, a determination to kill, distinctly formed in the mind at any moment before or at the time of the killing.

Premeditation need not be for a day, an hour or even a minute. It may be as instantaneous as successive thoughts of the mind. For if the jury believes from the evidence that the act constituting the killing has been preceded by and has been the result of premeditation, no matter how rapidly the premeditation is followed by the act constituting the killing, it is willful, deliberate and premeditated murder.

(VI.App.1149.)

In their rebuttal argument, the State relied on the *Kazalyn* instruction:

Murder. "In order to establish Murder, the State must show that the unlawful killing must be accompanied with deliberate and clear intent to take the life in order to constitute Murder of the First Degree. The intent to kill must be the result of deliberate premeditation."

If you recall, premeditation can be successive thoughts in the mind. Doesn't have to plan it for a week, for a month, for a year. When he put his hand around her neck, thumb over her throat, pillow over her face as the facts suggest, the intent was there. That was deliberate premeditation.

There's no other reason for him to take those actions. Clearly when you put your hand over somebody's neck and choke them out, death is a likely result. Deliberate premeditation has been met. Obviously that's a determination to kill.

And again, I get back to it doesn't have to be for a day, an hour, or even a minute. As instantaneous as successive thoughts of the mind. You want to keep that in mind, ladies and gentlemen, during your deliberation.

(VI.App.1104-05 (emphasis added).)

C. Conviction and Direct Appeal

Branham was convicted of first-degree murder. (VII.App.1159.) He was sentenced to life without the possibility of parole. (VI.App.1156.)

The Nevada Supreme Court issued an order dismissing the appeal on December 18, 1996. (VII.App.1183.) The conviction became final on March, 18 1997. *See Nika v. State*, 124 Nev. 1272, 1284 n.52, 198 P.3d 839, 848 n.52 (2008) (conviction becomes final when 90-day time period for filing petition for certiorari to Supreme Court has expired).

D. Byford v. State

On February 28, 2000, the Nevada Supreme Court decided *Byford* v. State, 116 Nev. 215, 994 P.2d 700 (2000). In *Byford*, the court disapproved of the *Kazalyn* instruction because it did not define premeditation and deliberation as separate elements of first-degree murder. *Id.* at 234-35, 994 P.2d at 713-14. Its prior cases, including *Kazalyn*, had "underemphasized the element of deliberation." *Id.* at 234, 994 P.2d at 713. These cases had reduced "premeditation" and

"deliberation" to synonyms and that, because they were "redundant," no instruction separately defining deliberation was required. *Id.* at 235, 994 P.2d at 714. It pointed out that the court went so far as to state that "the terms premeditated, deliberate, and willful are a single phrase, meaning simply that the actor intended to commit the act and intended death as a result of the act." *Id.*

The *Byford* court specifically "abandon[ed]" this line of authority. *Byford*, 116 Nev. at 234, 994 P.2d at 713. It held:

By defining only premeditation and failing to provide deliberation with any independent definition, the *Kazalyn* instruction blurs the distinction between first- and second- degree murder. [This Court's] further reduction of premeditation and deliberation to simply "intent" unacceptably carries this blurring to a complete erasure.

Id. at 235, 994 P.2d at 713. The court emphasized that deliberation remains a "critical element of the mens rea necessary for first-degree murder, connoting a dispassionate weighing process and consideration of consequences before acting." Id., 994 P.2d at 714. It is an element that "must be proven beyond a reasonable doubt before an accused can be

convicted or first degree murder." *Id.* at 235, 994 P.2d at 713-14 (quoting *Hern v. State*, 97 Nev. 529, 532, 635 P.2d 278, 280 (1981)).

The court directed the state district courts in the future to separately define deliberation in jury instructions as set forth in the opinion. *Byford*, 116 Nev. at 235-37, 994 P.2d at 714-15.

In *Garner v. State*, 116 Nev. 770, 789, 6 P.3d 1013, 1025 (2000), the Nevada Supreme Court held that the use of the *Kazalyn* instruction was not constitutional error. *Id.* at 788-89, 6 P.3d at 1025. It concluded *Byford* had no retroactive effect and only applied prospectively." *Id.*

E. Fiore v. White and Bunkley v. Florida

In 2001, the United States Supreme Court decided *Fiore v. White*, 531 U.S. 225 (2001). In *Fiore*, the Court held that due process requires that a clarification of a criminal statute apply to all convictions, even a conviction that had become final, where the clarification reveals that a defendant was convicted "for conduct that [the State's] criminal statute, as properly interpreted, does not prohibit." *Id.* at 228.

In 2003, the United States Supreme Court decided *Bunkley v. Florida*, 538 U.S. 835 (2003). In *Bunkley*, the Court held that, as a matter

of due process, a change in state law that narrows the category of conduct that can be considered criminal, had to be applied to convictions that had yet to become final. *Id.* at 840-42.

F. Colwell v. State and Clem v. State

In *Colwell v. State*, 118 Nev. 807, 820, 59 P.3d 463, 472 (2002), the Nevada Supreme Court adopted the *Teague* retroactivity rules in Nevada state courts. Under *Teague v. Lane*, 489 U.S. 288 (1989), new rules do not apply retroactively unless they fall within two exceptions: (1) they are substantive; or (2) they establish a watershed procedural rule. The Nevada Supreme Court held that these retroactivity rules, with some liberalizations, would apply only to new constitutional rules of criminal law. *Colwell*, 118 Nev. at 819-20, 59 P.3d at 470-72.

One year later, in *Clem v. State*, 119 Nev. 615, 628, 81 P.3d 521, 531 (2003), the Nevada Supreme Court reaffirmed the retroactivity rules in *Colwell*, emphasizing that they only apply to new constitutional rules and not to a decision that narrows the reach of a substantive criminal statute. *Id.* at 626, 628, 81 P.3d at 529, 531. It explained that the clarification/change dichotomy from *Fiore* and *Bunkley* dictated when a

statutory interpretation decision needs to be applied to convictions that had become final. *Id.* at 625-26, 81 P.3d at 528-29.

G. Nika v. State

In 2007, the Ninth Circuit decided in *Polk v. Sandoval*, 503 F.3d 903, 910-12 (9th Cir. 2007), that the *Kazalyn* instruction violated due process under *In Re Winship*, 397 U.S. 358 (1970), because it relieved the State of its burden of proving the element of deliberation.

In response to *Polk*, the Nevada Supreme Court in 2008 issued *Nika* v. State, 124 Nev. 1272, 198 P.3d 839 (2008). In *Nika*, the court disagreed with *Polk*'s conclusion that a *Winship* violation could occur with respect to the *Kazalyn* instruction. *Id.* at 1286, 198 P.3d at 1286. The court stated, rather than implicate *Winship* concerns, the only due process issue was whether *Byford*'s interpretation of the first-degree murder statute was a clarification or a change in the law. *Id.* at 1286-87, 198 P.3d 849-50. The court held that *Byford* was a change in state law. *Id.*

The court acknowledged, because *Byford* had changed the law to "narrow the scope of a criminal statute," due process required *Byford* be applied to those convictions that had not yet become final at the time it

was decided, citing *Bunkley* and *Fiore*. *Id.* at 1287, 1287 n.72-74, 1301, 198 P.3d at 850, 850 n.72-74, 859.

The court emphasized that *Byford* was a matter of statutory interpretation and not a matter of constitutional law. *Id.* at 1288, 198 P.3d at 850. The court stated, "[T]he interpretation and definition of a state criminal statute are merely a matter of state law." *Id.* The court reaffirmed the principle set forth in *Clem* and *Colwell*—"if a rule is new but not a constitutional rule, it has no retroactive application to convictions that are final at the time of the change in the law." *Id.* It concluded, "Because *Byford* announced a new rule and that rule was not required as a matter of constitutional law, it has no retroactive application to convictions, like Nika's, that became final before the new rule was announced." *Id.* at 1289, 198 P.3d at 851.

H. Montgomery v. Louisiana and Welch v. United States

On January 25, 2016, the United States Supreme Court decided *Montgomery v. Louisiana*, 136 S. Ct. 718 (2016). In *Montgomery*, the Court addressed the question of whether *Miller v. Alabama*, 132 S. Ct. 2455 (2012), which prohibited mandatory life sentences for juvenile

offenders under the Eighth Amendment, applied retroactively to cases that had already become final by the time of Miller. *Montgomery*, 136 S. Ct. at 725.

The initial question the Court addressed in *Montgomery* was whether it had jurisdiction to review the question. The Court stated that it did, holding "when a new substantive rule of constitutional law controls the outcome of a case, the Constitution requires state collateral review courts to give retroactive effect to that rule." Montgomery, 136 S. Ct. at "Teague's conclusion establishing the retroactivity of new 729. substantive rules is best understood as resting upon constitutional premises." Id. "States may not disregard a controlling constitutional command in their own courts." Id. at 727 (citing Martin v. Hunter's Lessess, 1 Wheat. 304, 340-41, 344 (1816)). "Where state collateral review proceedings permit prisoners to challenge the lawfulness of their confinement, States cannot refuse to give retroactive effect to a substantive constitutional right that determines the outcome of that challenge." Id. at 731-32.

The Court concluded that *Miller* was a new substantive rule; the states, therefore, had to apply it retroactively on collateral review. *Montgomery*, 136 S. Ct. at 732.

On April 18, 2016, the United States Supreme Court decided Welch v. United States, 136 S. Ct. 1257 (2016). In Welch, the Court addressed the question of whether Johnson v. United States, 135 S. Ct. 2551 (2015), which held that the residual clause in the Armed Career Criminal Act was void for vagueness under the Due Process Clause, applied retroactively to convictions that had already become final at the time of Johnson. Welch, 136 S. Ct. at 1260-61, 1264.

More specifically, the Court determined whether Johnson represented a new substantive rule. *Id.* at 1264-65. The Court defined a substantive rule as one that "alters the range of conduct or the class of persons that the law punishes." *Id.* (quoting *Schriro v. Summerlin*, 542 U.S. 348, 353 (2004)). "This includes decisions that narrow the scope of a criminal statute by interpreting its terms, as well as constitutional determinations that place particular conduct or persons covered by the

statute beyond the State's power to punish." *Id.* at 1265 (quoting *Schriro*, 542 U.S. at 351-52) (emphasis added).

The Court explained determining retroactivity under *Teague* "does not depend on whether the underlying constitutional guarantee is characterized as procedural or substantive. <u>It depends instead on whether the new rule itself has a procedural function or a substantive function—that is, whether it alters only the procedures used to obtain the conviction or alters instead the range of conduct or class of persons that the law punishes." *Welch*, 136 U.S. at 1266 (emphasis added).</u>

Under that framework, the Court concluded that *Johnson* was substantive. *Id.* at 1265-66.

Because both parties agreed that the lower court had been wrong on this issue, the Supreme Court appointed *amicus* counsel to argue that the lower court decision should be upheld. Amicus argued that the Court's prior cases set forth a different framework for the *Teague* analysis. *Welch*, 136 S. Ct. at 1265. Among the arguments that amicus advanced was that a rule is only substantive when it limits Congress's power to act. *Id.* at 1267.

The Court rejected this argument, pointing out that some of the Court's "substantive decisions do not impose such restrictions." *Id.* The "clearest example" was *Bousley v. United States*, 523 U.S. 614 (1998). *Id.* It confirmed that its application of the substantive rule exception to *Teague* did include statutory interpretation cases like *Bousley. Id.*

The Court then explained how a statutory interpretation decision like *Bousley* fits under the substantive rule exception. In *Bousley*, the Court was determining what retroactive effect should be given to its prior decision in *Bailey v. United States*, 516 U.S. 137 (1995), which had narrowed the meaning of the term "use" of a firearm in relation to a drug crime under 28 U.S.C. § 924(c). *Bousley*, 523 U.S. at 620. The Court explained in *Welch* that it "had no difficulty concluding [in *Bousley*] that *Bailey* was substantive, as it was a decision 'holding that a substantive federal criminal statute does not reach certain conduct." *Welch*, 136 S. Ct. at 1267. The Court also cited *Schriro*, 542 U.S. at 354, using the following parenthetical as further support: "A decision that modifies the elements of an offense is normally substantive rather than procedural."

The Court made clear in *Welch* that the *Bousley* decision demonstrates <u>how</u> the Teague substantive exception should be applied. *Id.* It stated: "*Bousley* thus contradicts the contention that the *Teague* inquiry turns only on whether the decision at issue holds that Congress lacks some substantive power." *Id.* The Court explained that statutory interpretation cases are treated like any other application of the substantive rule exception:

Neither *Bousley* nor any other case from this Court treats statutory interpretation cases as a special class of decisions that are substantive because they implement the intent of Congress. Instead, decisions that interpret a statute are substantive if and when they meet the normal criteria for a substantive rule: when they "alte[r] the range of conduct or the class of persons that the law punishes."

Welch, 136 S. Ct. at 1267 (emphasis added; quoting Schriro).

I. Second State Petition

On April 9, 2017, within one year of *Welch*, Branham filed a second state petition arguing that he was now entitled to the benefit of *Byford* as a result of *Montgomery* and *Welch*. (VII.App.1190-1219.) He argued that *Montgomery* established a new constitutional rule, namely the

Teague substantive exception was now a federal constitutional rule, and Welch established that this substantive exception included narrowing interpretations of a statute, such as Byford. (Id.) The State moved to dismiss arguing that the petition was procedurally barred. (VII.App.1225-30.)

After hearing oral argument, the district court dismissed the petition. (VII.App.1286-94.) It concluded that *Byford* was not a substantive rule, but was only of "procedural significance" concerning how to define elements in jury instructions. (VII.App.1292-93.)

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

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