IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

WILLIAM BRANHAM,

No. 74743

Electronically Filed May 04 2018 03:12 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

Appellant,

V.

ISIDRO BACA, WARDEN,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

RENE L. VALLADARES Federal Public Defender

JONATHAN M. KIRSHBAUM Assistant Federal Public Defender

411 E. Bonneville, Suite 250 Las Vegas, Nevada 89101

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

CHRISTOPHER J. HICKS

Washoe County District Attorney

TERRENCE P. McCARTHY

Chief Appellate Deputy

P.O. Box 11130

Reno, Nevada 89520

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from an order dismissing a post-conviction habeas corpus petition, with the finding that the petition was procedurally barred and the proffered reason to overcome the bars was insufficient. 7 AA 1288.

Petitioner Branham was convicted of murder on April 14, 1993. He appealed but the judgment was affirmed. *Branham v. State*, Docket Number 24648, Order Dismissing Appeals (December 18, 1996). Branham then filed a post-conviction habeas corpus petition in the district court on December 12, 1997. That petition was denied after a hearing on February 23, 1999. He again appealed but the order denying the petition was

///

affirmed. *Branham v. Warden*, Docket No. 33830 and 33831, Order Dismissing Appeals (February 15, 2000).

Branham filed a federal habeas corpus petition in 2000. That was dismissed and he appealed to the Ninth Circuit. That Court affirmed and then the U.S. Supreme Court denied Certiorari. 7 AA 1194. *Branham v. Budge*, 541 U.S. 1077, 124 S.Ct. 2423 (2004).

In 2005, he filed another state petition, this time alleging that post-conviction counsel was negligent. That petition was dismissed on June 17, 2005. Branham appealed but the order dismissing was affirmed. *Branham v. State*, Docket No. 45532, Order of Affirmance (November 10, 2005). Among other things, the Supreme Court noted that the petition was untimely, abusive and successive.

Branham filed his most recent petition on April 7, 2017. The district court ordered a response. The State moved to dismiss. Petitioner opposed the motion. The court heard oral arguments and later entered an order dismissing the petition. Branham now appeals from the order dismissing the petition.

///

///

II. STATEMENT OF THE FACT

The appendix includes the trial transcript, and the murder has been described in prior decisions. The facts relevant to this appeal are procedural in nature and are set out above.

III. <u>ARGUMENT</u>

The instant petition is untimely, abusive and successive, just as was the last one. See NRS 34.726, 34.800, 34.810. Those procedural bars can sometimes be overcome where the claim was not legally available, but only recently became available due to an intervening change in the law. "However, . . proper respect for the finality of convictions demands that this ground for good cause be limited to previously unavailable constitutional claims." Clem v. State, 119 Nev. 615, 621, 81 P.3d 521, 525–26 (2003) (emphasis added). Branham seems to now contend that a couple decisions of the U.S. Supreme Court changed that model and now, as a matter of constitutional law, there can never be a final judgment because all changes in the law, of any sort, from any source, must be retroactive to all convicted persons. He is incorrect.

At issue is what has come to be known as the *Kazylan* instruction concerning the *mens rea* for murder. The instruction was commonly given until 2000 when the Court ruled in *Byford v. State*, 116 Nev. 215, 994 P.2d 700 (2000), that the various terms of "intent to kill", "premeditation" and "deliberation" are

each different in some ways and that future juries should be instructed on the proper definitions of each. There next came the question of whether *Byford* would be retroactively applied. The Nevada Supreme Court definitively addressed that in *Nika v. State*, 124 Nev. 1272, 198 P.3d 839 (2008). The Court ruled that the *Byford* definitions were not to be applied retroactively. The *Nika* decision, in part, boiled down to the question of whether the Court in Byford had discovered the law as it had always existed, or if it had changed the law. The ruling in Nika, after a fairly extensive discussion, was that the *Byford* Court had changed the law. The Court went on to rule that the change in the law announced in *Byford* would not be applied retroactively to those whose convictions were final before Byford was announced. That would include Branham. Among other things, the Nika Court mentioned that *Byford* had not invoked any constitutional mandate, but instead was a regular exercise of appellate jurisdiction, interpreting state statutes.

The argument in the Opening Brief has several faults. First, it depends on the notion that the Supreme Court in *Welch v. United States*, 136 S.Ct. 1257 (2016) has implicitly overruled an earlier decision of the Supreme Court, *Bunkley v. Florida*, 538 U.S. 835, 123 S.Ct, 2020 (2003). *Bunkley* featured prominently in the *Byford* decision. The Supreme Court has recently reminded state courts, in somewhat curt language, that the Supreme Court alone is empowered to overrule its own precedents and that if the Court intends to overrule a prior decision, it will

do so explicitly. *Bosse v. Oklahoma*, ____, U.S.____, 137 S.Ct. 1 (2016). In *Nika*, supra, the prior decision at issue was Bunkley v. Florida, supra. There, the Court held that where a state court interpretation of a statute is a change in the interpretation of a state statute, not constitutionally required, then state law determines the effective date of that new interpretation. In Nevada, in Nika, the Court clearly and explicitly ruled that the state law announced in *Byford v. State*, 116 Nev. 215, 994 P.2d 700 (2000) (concerning the instructions relevant to mental states involved in a murder prosecution), represented a change in the law, not a discovery of the law as it always existed. Nothing in Welch v. United States changed that. Welch dealt with the retroactive application of a ruling that a certain clause of the Armed Career Criminal Act was unconstitutionally vague. The Court made several comments that reveal that this case has nothing to do with that analysis. Among them, issues of retroactivity are determined by federal law only where the new rule of law is based on a "constitutional rule." See e.g., 136 S.Ct. at 1264. As this Court noted in the Order disposing of the last petition, the ///

¹ In *Bunkley*, the statute at issue referred to a "common pocket knife." The Florida Supreme Court had changed its interpretation of that term, but not on any constitutional grounds, and the U.S. Supreme Court ruled that the Florida Supreme Court must determine when that change was effective. That is, the Florida Court would have to determine if it had discovered the law as it always existed, or if it had changed the law.

Byford decision was purely a matter of state law and there were no constitutional issues involved in the relevant part of the decision.

The *Welch* decision noted several times that the question of the retroactivity applies only with new "constitutional" rules. There was no constitutional component to the decisions in *Byford* and *Nika*. The state court was simply exercising its appellate authority to determine the meaning of state statutes, which it does with great frequency, even when the Constitution does not demand that the court do so.²

The Court might note that the *Welch* Court noted several times that the general rules regarding retroactivity apply when the new constitutional rule narrows the "conduct" regulated by the criminal statute. *See e.g.*, 136 S.Ct. at 1265. In *Nika*, the Court noted that distinction and pointed out that the *Byford* decision, concerning the elements of willfulness, premeditation, malice and intent to kill, concerned only the *mens rea* of the crime of murder, not the *actus reus*. Thus, the elements of the crime of murder that concern the conduct, have not been expanded or narrowed by *Byford*. It seems clear enough that *Welch*, if it applied at all, would apply only if the *Byford* Court had narrowed the "conduct"

² Without actually checking, the State guesses that there are very few criminal statutes that have never been construed by an appellate court. If each of those rulings must be applied retroactively, then one must wonder why courts all over the nation have not been ordering wholesale new trials.

that was at issue. The Supreme Court in *Welch* used the term "conduct" quite a few times and it appears to be deliberate.

Because *Welch* has no application to the instant case, as the change of the law announced in *Byford* had no constitutional component and did not narrow the "conduct" that was prohibited, there is nothing that overcomes the procedural bars and the instant petition is untimely, abusive, successive and barred by laches and was properly dismissed.

One way to view Welch is that it attempts to resolve the philosophical question of whether appellate courts make law, or change law, or if they simply find the law as it has always existed. That is, the Supreme Court has apparently determined that when the Constitution demands a certain construction of a statute that governs conduct, then the Constitution has always demanded that certain construction of the statute that governs conduct. Hence, if a court rules that the constitutional guarantees regarding vagueness in criminal statutes require a certain ruling that limits a criminal statute, then that constitutional guarantee has always required that result. In contrast, when the change in construction of a statute is based not on the Constitution, but on evolving judicial interpretation, not based on constitutional rules of law, then the state decides when that evolution becomes effective. See Nika v. State, 124 Nev. 1272, 1280, 198 P.3d 839, 845 (2008). In Nika, the Court very explicitly held that "if a rule is new but not a

constitutional rule, it has no retroactive application to convictions that are final at the time of the change in the law." *Nika v. State*, 124 Nev. 1272, 1288, 198 P.3d 839, 850 (2008). Footnote 78 in *Nika* is equally as explicit: "We disavow any language in *Mitchell v. State* suggesting that a new nonconstitutional rule of criminal procedure applies retroactively."

The distinction between constitutional rules and common law rules is also made clear in *Montgomery v. Louisiana*, 136 S.Ct. 718 (2016). The Court noted: "If, however, the Constitution establishes a rule and requires that the rule have retroactive application, then a state court's refusal to give the rule retroactive effect is reviewable by this Court." 136 S.Ct. at 727 (emphasis added). As indicated earlier, the decision at issue here, in Byford v. State, 116 Nev. 214, 994 P.2d 700 (2000) was not based on any constitutional rules, but rather on evolving judicial interpretation. Hence, the State decides when the law changed. See Bunkley, supra. The final arbiter of state law, the Nevada Supreme Court, has determined that the change described in *Byford* was not effective retroactively, but only prospectively from the date of the *Byford* decision. *Nika*, 124 Nev. At 1288. As such, there has been no legal development that altered the legal landscape to allow Branham to bring yet another collateral challenge to his conviction.

///

///

IV. <u>CONCLUSION</u>

There has been no relevant change in the law to allow yet another collateral challenge to the conviction. The judgment of the district court should be affirmed.

DATED: May 4, 2018.

CHRISTOPHER J. HICKS DISTRICT ATTORNEY

By: TERRENCE P. McCARTHY Chief Appellate Deputy